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ATTORNEY disciplinary proceeding. Attorney's |icense

suspended.

11 PER CURI AM Attorney Gry R CGeorge appeals a
referee's recomendation that his license to practice law in
W sconsin be revoked for professional msconduct consisting of
commtting crimnal acts that reflect adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness and fitness as a |awer. The referee also
recommends that Attorney George pay the costs of t he
di sci plinary proceeding. The sole issue on appeal is the

appropriate | evel of discipline.
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12 W approve the referee's findings of fact and
conclusions of |aw and we adopt them W conclude that a
| engthy suspension is the appropriate level of discipline in
this proceeding, and we inpose the costs of the proceeding.

13 Attorney CGeorge was admtted to the practice of law in
W sconsin in 1979. He has no prior disciplinary history. On
April 1, 2004, this court sunmarily suspended Attorney George's
license to practice law in Wsconsin pursuant to SCR 22.20(1)?
upon notification that Attorney George had been convicted in
federal court, on entry of a guilty plea, of one count of
conspiracy to commt offenses against federal program funds in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.°2

1 SCR 22.20(1) provides: Sunmmary |icense suspension on
crim nal conviction.

(1) Sunmary suspensi on. Upon recei ving
satisfactory proof that an attorney has been found
guilty or convicted of a serious crinme, the suprene
court may summarily suspend the attorney's license to
practice law  pendi ng final di sposition of a
di sciplinary proceeding, whether the finding of gquilt
or the conviction resulted froma plea of guilty or no
contest or from a verdict after trial and regardless
of the pendency of an appeal.

2 Title 18 of the United States Code § 371 provides:
Conspiracy to commt offense or to defraud United States

If two or nore persons conspire either to commt
any offense against the United States, or to defraud
the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner
or for any purpose, and one or nore of such persons do
any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each
shall be fined under this title or inprisoned not nore
than five years, or both.
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14 Hs license to practice | aw renmai ns under suspensi on.

15 Attorney Ceorge served in the Wsconsin Senate for 23
years. During that tine, he developed a professional
relationship wwth MIwaukee attorney Mark Sostarich (Sostarich),
and Carl GCee (Cee), the forner executive director of the
Qpportunities Industrialization Center of Geater MIwaukee
("AdC'), an entity that held contracts to adm nister Wsconsin's
wel fare-reform program popularly known as W2 (for "Wsconsin
Works") .3

16 Attorney GCeorge, Sostarich, Gee and others entered
into business arrangenents that eventually gave rise to federa
conspiracy charges. In 2003 Attorney George was indicted on
charges that he accepted kickbacks in exchange for exercising

his political influence over federal grants as well as prograns

| f, however, the offense, the conm ssion of which
is the object of the conspiracy, is a msdeneanor
only, the punishnment for such conspiracy shall not
exceed the maxi mum punishment provided for such
m sdeneanor .

3 These contracts brought in about $40 nillion annually.
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financed by state revenues.* See United States v. George, 403

F.3d 470 (7th Cr. 2005). Attorney George pled guilty to the
first count of the indictnment pursuant to a plea agreenent. The
remai ning charges were dismssed but read into the record.
Attorney Ceorge was sentenced to 48 nonths' inprisonment and was
ordered to pay $568,596.48 in restitution.®

17 We sunmmarize the facts underlying the charge to which
Attorney GCeorge pled guilty. Attorney Ceorge and Sostarich
undertook joint |legal representation of the OC and various O C

subsidiaries with the O C s know edge and consent. The parties

* More specifically, the indictment alleged that Attorney
CGeorge conspired with Sostarich and others to commt offenses
involving federal program funds under 18 U S.C. 8 666 and to
conmmit mail and wire fraud offenses in violation of 18 U S.C
88 1341, 1343 and 1346; conspired with Sostarich and others to
corruptly provide Attorney CGeorge with kickbacks from | egal fees
paid by the Police Athletic League ("PAL"), a nonprofit
subsidiary of the OC in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 666(a)(1)(B)
1341 and 1346; knowingly and intentionally m sapplied property
of PAL by rigging the bid process for a $5 million construction
project in MIwaukee in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 666(a)(1)(A)
and 2; corruptly solicited and accepted $2,500 from Sostarich
intending to be rewarded in connection with a State of Wsconsin
transaction in violation of 18 US C 8§ 666(a)(1)(B); and
knowi ngly conducted a financial transaction using the proceeds
of specified unlawful activity in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 666,
1341, 1343, 1346 and 1956(a) (1) (B)(i).

® The Seventh GCircuit Court of Appeals affirned his
conviction and sentence, but remanded wth directions to review
the original $613,746.36 restitution award. The decision after
remand, reducing the restitution award to $568,596.48, was
affirmed on appeal. See United States v. Ceorge, No. 03-CR-259,
Menor andum Deci sion (E.D. Ws. My 3, 2006), aff'd after remand,
United States v. George, 198 Fed. Appx. 552 (7th G r. 2006).

4
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entered into a witten fee agreenent, whereby Sostarich served
as the attorney of record.

18 Bet ween approxi mately October 1997 and August 2002,
the OC paid a nonthly retainer to Sostarich, wusually in the
amount of  $5, 834. Sostarich, in turn, wuld deposit the
retai ner check into his bank account and then wite two checks—
one to his law firm and one to Attorney George. The anount
Attorney George received varied from four-fifths of the total
nonthly retainer (%$4,667.20) to one-half of additional |[egal
paynents the O C nade to Sostarich. Attorney George perforned
no legal work in exchange for this noney; neither the O C nor
Sostarich filed tax docunments showing how the nonthly fee was
al | ocat ed.

19 The OC also "invested" $200,000 of an affiliate's
nmoney in a corporation controlled by Attorney GCeorge's famly,
whose sol e asset was a television station in the Virgin Islands.
The "investnent" never appeared on the corporation's books. The
federal court observed that "[t]he npbney seens to have gone
straight to George's pocket, with the OC receiving his goodw ||

and political patronage rather than an equity interest in a

busi ness. " United States v. Cee, 432 F.3d 713, 714 (7th Crr.
2005). Attorney George eventually received over $400,000 in
various payments from the QOC.° In addition, the indictnent

® Gee was convicted of conspiring with Attorney George and
Sostarich to obtain OC contracts corruptly and of causing the
OC to pay kickbacks to Attorney George, in violation of 18
US C 88 666 and 371. GCee was sentenced to 24 nonths'
i mprisonment and ordered to pay restitution of sone $473, 000.
See United States v. Gee, 432 F.3d at 714.

5
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all eged and Attorney George has admtted that he used state
enpl oyees to perform personal work for him and that he failed
to disclose the fees received from the OC arrangenent on his
Statenment of Economic Interests.

110 On August 2, 2005, the Ofice of Lawer Regulation
(OLR) filed a disciplinary conplaint against Attorney GCeorge
alleging that by virtue of his conviction in federal court he
had violated SCR 20:8.4(b), which provides that it is
prof essional msconduct to "commit a crimnal act that reflects
adversely on the |awer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as
a lawer in other respects.”

111 A hearing on the attorney disciplinary matter was
conducted on April 20, 2006. On Decenber 12, 2006, the referee,
Gene B. Radcliffe, filed his report recomending revocation.
This appeal foll owed. The Wsconsin Suprene Court conducted
oral argunent on Decenber 13, 2007.

112 Attorney Ceorge does not challenge the referee's
finding that his federal conviction established a violation of

SCR 20:8.4(b). Therefore, the sole question before the court on

Sostarich was convicted, followng entry of a plea, to one
count of conspiracy to commt nmail fraud in violation of 18
US C 8§ 371. Sostarich was sentenced in federal court to three
years probation, conditioned on 150 days of hone confinenent.
Sostarich was also ordered to nmake restitution to an QC
subsidiary in the anount of $42,649 and to perform 75 hours of

community service. Sostarich's license to practice |law was
summarily suspended following his conviction, and his |icense
was ultimately suspended for 18 nonths. In re Disciplinary

Proceedi ngs Agai nst Sostarich, 2005 W 97, 282 Ws. 2d 712, 698
N. W2d 711.




No. 2005AP1978-D

appeal is the appropriate discipline for Attorney Ceorge's
pr of essi onal m sconduct. The OLR acknowl edged at oral argunent
that any discipline should be inposed retroactive to the date
Attorney Ceorge's |license to practice law was summarily
suspended.

13 It is this court's responsibility to determne the
appropriate discipline to be inposed for an attorney's
m sconduct. In nmaking that determnation, we are free to inpose
discipline nore or |ess severe than that recommended by the

referee. In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Elliott, 133

Ws. 2d 110, 394 N. W2d 313 (1986) ; I n re Di sciplinary

Proceedings Against Reitz, 2005 W 39, 279 Ws. 2d 550, 694

N. W 2d 894.

114 We consider the seriousness of the msconduct, the
need to protect the public, courts and the legal system from
repetition of m sconduct, the need to inpress upon the attorney
the seriousness of the m sconduct, and the need to deter other

attorneys from engaging in simlar msconduct. See In re

Disciplinary Proceedings Against Arthur, 2005 W 40, 279

Ws. 2d 583, 694 N.W2d 910.

115 Attorney GCeorge acknow edges the seriousness of his
m sconduct, but asserts that a |esser sanction than revocation
is warranted. The crux of Attorney Ceorge's argunment is that
the federal court decisions overstate the nature of the
conspiracy and, while he concedes it was wong to use state
enpl oyees for personal work and wong to fail to disclose the
paynments he received on his Statenent of Economic Interests, the

7
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paynments he received from the OC were fairly obtained. He
mai ntains that he did not exert his influence inproperly on
behalf of the A C. He maintains that the paynents he received
were for legitimate services rendered to the QC Despite
Att or ney Ceorge's prot estations to t he contrary, this
characterization of the events was clearly not accepted by the
referee who stated, "In spite of his argunents that he was
convicted because of technicalities and the general coercive
nature of the crimnal Coe system and that he really did
provide legal services to the entities for which he received
ki ckbacks, the record clearly indicates otherw se." ( Enphasi s

added) .

116 We decline to disturb the referee's factual finding on
this point and note that it is fully consistent wth Attorney
Ceorge's statenents made at his plea hearing, where the federa
court described the allegations contained in count one of the
indictment and asked, "Are those the facts to which you are
pleading gquilty here today as they—as those facts relate to
you?" Attorney Ceorge responded, "Yes, your Honor."

17 Simlarly, we are not persuaded by Attorney GCeorge's
suggestion that his discipline should not be significantly nore
severe than that inposed on Sostarich. There is substanti al
record evidence that both Sostarich and Gee benefited far |ess
than Attorney George from the schenme. Attorney George's effort
to characterize his culpability as on par with that of Sostarich

is sinply not conpelling.
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118 Attorney GCeorge also suggests that the referee
erroneously assuned that revocation is automatically warranted
when an attorney has commtted any serious felony. However, it
does not appear the referee erroneously assuned that comm ssion
of a serious felony automatically requires revocation. In his
report, the referee referenced section 5.11(a) of the ABA
Standards for Inposing Lawer Sanctions which states that

di sbarnment is generally appropriate when:

[A] lawyer engages in serious crimnal conduct a

necessary el enent of which includes intentional
interference with the adm nistration of justice, false
sweari ng, m srepresentation, fraud, extortion,
m sappropriation, or theft; . . . or an attenpt or

conspiracy or solicitation of another to commt any of
t hese offenses|.]

119 The referee stated, "In inposing discipline in these
cases, nost courts inpose disbarment on |lawers who are
convicted on serious felonies.” The referee added that Section
5.21 of the ABA Standards for Inposing Lawer Sanctions provides
that "disbarnent is generally appropriate when a |lawer in an
official or governnental position, such as [Attorney Ceorge],
knowi ngly msuses the position wth intent to obtain a
significant benefit or advantage for hinmself."

20 We are not persuaded that by these statenents, the
referee erroneously assunmed revocation was the only sanction he
could recommend to this court.

21 However, while we decline to accept Attorney GCeorge's

characterization of the events giving rise to his conviction,
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neither are we persuaded that revocation is a necessary sanction
in this instance.

22 In considering the appropriate discipline, we consider
prior Wsconsin precedent, the ABA Standards for |nposing Lawer
Sanctions, the mtigating and aggravating circunstances involved
in this mtter, and the specific circunstances of Attorney
CGeorge's m sconduct.

123 Utimately, each disciplinary <case turns on its

specific facts. See, e.g., In re D sciplinary Proceedings

Agai nst O Byrne, 2002 W 123, 257 Ws. 2d 8, 653 NW2d 111. W

have considered the cases cited by both parties and comend
counsel for providing the court with a thorough analysis of

rel evant case |aw. See, e.g., In re Disciplinary Proceedi ngs

Agai nst Burke, 2007 W 46, 300 Ws. 2d 198, 730 N.wW2d 651

(suspension); In re D sciplinary Proceedings Against Chvala,

2007 W 47, 300 Ws. 2d 206, 730 N.W2d 648 (suspension); In re

Disciplinary Proceedings Against Paulus, 2004 W 71, 272

Ws. 2d 143, 682 N W2d 326 (consensual revocation); In re

Di sciplinary Proceedings Against Hausnmann, 2005 W 131, 285

Ws. 2d 608, 699 N W2d 923 (suspension); O Byrne, 2002 W 123

(revocation); In re D sciplinary Proceedi ngs Against Kortsch,

225 Ws. 2d 235, 591 N W2d 841 (1999) (revocation); In re

Di sciplinary Proceedings Against H nnaw, 202 Ws. 2d 113, 549

N.W2d 245 (1996) (revocation); In re Disciplinary Proceedings

Agai nst Wight, 180 Ws. 2d 492, 509 N.W2d (1994) (revocation);

In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Smth, 145 Ws. 2d 632,

428 N. W 2d 547 (1988) (revocation).
10
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24 Revocation is the nost extreme sanction this court can
i npose upon an attorney who has violated the Rules of
Prof essi onal Conduct for Attorneys. It is reserved for the nost
egregious cases of professional msconduct, cases where we
conclude that the nature and extent of the m sconduct renders an
attorney wholly unfit to be licensed by this court to represent
others in the |l egal system

25 Revoking a lawer's |license to practice |aw does not,
however, preclude that person from ever practicing law in
W sconsi n agai n. One whose |icense has been revoked may seek

r ei nst at enent at any tinme commencing five years after the
effective date of the revocation.” SCR 22.29(2).

126 I1n seeking a |esser sanction than revocation, Attorney
George offered, as a mtigating factor, his lengthy public
service, including 23 years in the Wsconsin Senate, and his
i nvol venent since the 1970s in Wsconsin Special dynpics and
ot her charitable and pr of essi onal wor ks benefiting
under privil eged yout h.

127 At the oral argunment on this nmatter, however, counse
for the OLR persuasively argued the other side of that sane
coin, enphasizing that Attorney CGeorge was not only acting as an
attorney, but also as an elected official when he conmtted the
m sconduct at issue here. As such, Attorney George's m sconduct
not only involved dishonesty, it violated the public's trust and

served to undermne the public's confidence in its elected

of ficials.

11
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128 This is a difficult case and one this court considered
very seriously. W share the OLR s concerns about the serious
violation of public trust commtted by Attorney Ceorge, and we
agree that substantial discipline is warranted to address that
m sconduct . At the sane tinme, we are mndful that our role is
not to duplicate the punishnment Attorney George has already
received for his actions, which includes a felony conviction, a
| engthy prison sentence, and a very substantial restitution
obligation that nust be paid.

129 Utimately, we have concluded that while Attorney
CGeorge's m sconduct was, indeed, extrenely serious, it does not
warrant the harshest penalty of revocation. We are influenced
by the fact that this is the only disciplinary conplaint filed
agai nst Attorney George since he was admtted to practice law in
W sconsin some 29 years ago. W are influenced by Attorney
GCeorge's public service to the citizens of Wsconsin. H s
service long preceded the events giving rise to this
disciplinary matter. Utimately, while we agree that Attorney
George has conmmtted serious msconduct, we are persuaded that
his prospects for rehabilitation are real.

130 Therefore, we have concluded that a |engthy suspension
is appropriate discipline for Attorney Ceorge's violation of SCR
20:8.4(b). Attorney Ceorge's license to practice law wll be
suspended for a period of four years and three nonths. This is,
per haps, the nost |engthy suspension inposed by this court in an

attorney disciplinary matter.

12
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131 Consistent wth our past practice in other cases
involving crimnal convi cti ons, we nmake the suspension
retroactive to the date on which Attorney George's |icense was
summarily suspended. We further conclude that Attorney GCeorge
should be required to pay the costs of the proceeding which
total $14,064.72 as of December 17, 2007.°

132 W enphasi ze, nor eover, t hat a petition for

reinstatenment, whether it follows a suspension or a revocation

is not an automatic procedure. See, e.g., Reinstatenent of
Ei senberg, 206 Ws. 2d 264, 556 N.W2d 749 (1996). 1In all cases
of revocation or license suspension of six nonths or nore, the

individual's eligibility and fitness to practice law is
carefully scrutinized, first by the OLR, then by a referee, and
finally by this court. The person seeking reinstatenent nust
denonstrate that he or she has the noral character to practice
law, that his or her resunption of the practice of law will not
be detrinmental to the adm nistration of justice or subversive of
the public interest, and the person seeking reinstatenent nust
al so denonstrate conpliance with various other conditions as set
forth in the rules or by order of the court. See, e.g., SCRs
22.29-22. 33.

1833 IT IS ORDERED that Gary R George's Ilicense to

practice law in Wsconsin is suspended for a period of four

" An objection to the specific anount of costs is not
presently before this court. See SCR 22. 24.

13
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years and three nonths, retroactive to the date of his summary
| i cense suspension inposed April 1, 2004.

134 1T IS FURTHER ORDERED that, if he has not already done
so, Gary R Ceorge conply with the provisions of SCR 22.26
concerning the duties of a person whose license to practice |aw
in Wsconsin has been suspended.

135 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that within 60 days of the date
of this order Gary R CGeorge pay to the Ofice of Lawer
Regul ation the costs of this proceeding, provided that if the
costs are not paid within the time specified and absent a
showing to this court of his inability to pay those costs within
that tinme, the license of Gary R George to practice law in
Wsconsin shall remain suspended until further order of the
court.

136 DAVID T. PROSSER, J., and LOU S B. BUTLER JR, J.,

did not participate.
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